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The historic buildings and sites of the Nicodemus Historic District are as follows:

Sayer's General Store and Post Office - Built in 1880 Sayer's General Store and Post Office is
presently an unoccupied two story building of native limestone with a wood frame roof and brick
masonry chimney. The doors, windows and frame of the rest of the structure are also wood. The
one story structure at the rear of the main building is wood framed with stucco walls and a brick
chimney. The roof of this structure also has a wood frame and wood shingles as does the frame of
the interior, , Although it is net new:dip active use there. are: anfew articles:stored on.the mslde of
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First Baphsf Church Replacmg an earller structure of the initial church structure that was a
dugout, the present First Baptist Church was built in 1908 and is presently in active use by a
religious group. A one story structure of native limestone that is covered with stucco, the church
has a wood frame roof with wood shingles. On the interior there are partitions of wood lath with
plaster over the wood frame and butresses on the east side of the building to brace the wall. There
have been additions to the original building over the years.

Township (T. W. P.) Hall - A one story assembly hall with stage, proscenium arch, high ceiling,
and a half basement, this structure was built in 1939 with exterior walls of native limestone. The
roof is structural steel with compoesition shingles and the floor is concrete slab. The walls are
plaster, and the ceiling is acoustical tile. It is presently used for all community meetings.

Site of the Masonic Hall - A marker placed in 1972 by the Masons designates the site of the old
masonic hall. Resting on a concrete slab, the brick masonry marker has three stones with carved
exposed surfaces incorporated into the masonry work. The South one is dated "1880" with the
north one bearing the letter "G". The central stone is semi-circular with the lower portion
showing "A.F. & A.M. 1893" and the upper portion having a half moon with a face in profile.

A .M.E. Church - Built in 1885 of native limestone covered with stucco this one story structure
has a wood frame roof with wood shingles that are partially covered with composition shingles.
The north wing is in ruins.

Fletcher Residence = Built in 1878 this building is one of the original structures of the town. One
and one-half stories high it was originally native limestone walls that are now covered with stucco.
The frame walls and roof structure of wood frame with wood shingles are additions to the original
structure that also housed the town's first Post Office before it was moved to Sayer's General Store.

An Original Town Residence - Although the exact date of the construction of this original building
is hof known iF was one of The origimal residences of the town. Although in a state of ruins what
remains are sod walls veneered with native limestone, a wood frame door, and partially standing
walls.
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STATEMENT OF SIGNIFICANCE

During the-1870s: the .great human phenomena-of ‘a mass migration-of bldcks from the South fo the -
Midwest took place. Greatly dissatisfied with the conditions in the South, blacks, in numbers sizeable
enought to initiate an investigation and report by the United State Congress, swarmed from the South to
the Midwest. Black spokesmen such as Frederick Douglass and Richard T. Greener offered their people
conflicting advice on how to deal with the oppression and poverty of the South. Douglass advocated
that they remain in the region in order to change and ameliorate the conditions. Greener, on the other
hand, urged migration from an area that he felt was beyond change as far as blacks were concerned.

In line with Greener's advice, blacks from Mississippi, Lovisiana, Alabama, Tennessee, and Kentucky
surged westward.

One of theprinciple leaders of this mass migration movement was Benjamin "Pap" Singleton, who
glowingly told stories of the "Promised Land" in Kansas. He was responsible for the founding of eleven
colonies in Kansas alone between 1873 and 1880. Singleton, born a slave in Nashville, Tennessee
about 1809, learned the trades of carpentry and cabinet making. He hated his enslavement and so fled
to Canada settling later in Detroit, Michigan, where he pursued a variety of occupations. After the
general emancipation of slaves, he returned to his native Tennessee and began attempts to colonize
blacks there. He soon realized that such an effort in the South was not conducive to the welfare and
future progress of black people. Finally, he visited Kansas in 1873, bringing with him 300 blacks
from Tennessee, most of whom settled in "Singleton's Colony" in Cherokee County. Returning to the
South in the latter part of 1873, he traveled throughout Tennessee, Kentucky, and Mississippi,
organizing groups to migrate to Kansas.

The impact of black migration on the population of Kansas is evident from census reports. In 1860
there were 625 free blacks and two slaves in the entire state. In 1870 the colored population had
jumped to 17,108 and a number of all-black communities had sprung up in the eastem part of the state.
By 1880 the black population had doubled to 43,107. Singleton's efforts were primarily responsible
for this increase in the colored population of the state of Kansas during his last great colonizing effort,
1878-1879.

Nicodemus, under Singleton's influence, was one of the towns that resulted from this black migration
movement. Established on homestead land in Graham County, Kansas with assistance from a white
Tennessee minister, W, T. Hill, and named after a legendary slave, the town of Nicodemus was
officially founded on September 17, 1877. However, prior to that date, during the previous summer,
there had been some earlier arrivals to the townsite, the first being Reverend Simon P. Roundtree who
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VERBAL BOUNDARY DESCRIPTION

The Historic District of Nicodemus, Kansas is square shaped. In the 'North it follows North Street
eastward to East Bend Road, and then traveling South to South Street. Here it continues West on
South Street to Seventh Street going North until it joins North Street.
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Historical Marker ~ Constructed in 1970 this roadside marker briefly states the early history of the
town of Nicodemus. It was erected by the Kansas Historical Society and the State Highway Commissio?

Dr. D. L. Stewart Residence~ Built in 1906 with native limestone exterior walls, this one story
structure has interior walls that are wood frame with lath and plaster and a roof that is wood frame
with wood shingles. The porch on the north end of the house is in ruins.

The proposed boundaries for the Nicodemus Historic District are as follows:

Northern Boundary -~ Washington Street to Fourth Street to North Street
Eastern Boundary - East Bend Road

Southern Boundary - South Street

Western Boundary - Seventh Street

The sod house though not within the boundaries of the proposed district, because of their
distance from it, should nonetheless be designated a landmark because of its significance and
relationship to the history of Nicodemus. The property is less than one acre.
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was there on June 18, 1877. The next arrivals came on July 30th. In this group were Mr. and Mrs.
Fletcher. Mrs. Fletcher was the only waman in the colony until others of her sex arrived with a
group of "Exodusters” came from Kentucky in the spring of 1878. Finally in 1879 the lost sizeable
group, 50 blacks from Mississippi, settled in Nicodemus. According to the 1880 census there were
260 blacks living in Nicodemus township.

The Nicodemus colonists had to cope with many hardships on the Kansas frontier. The initial
form of shelter was a "burrow" constructed out of the side of a bank or small hill. Sod dugouts
and then wooden structures eventually replaced the "burrows". The problem of finding food was
a far more difficult obstacle for the colonists to overcome. Few of the settlers had any money,
(most of them having spent their funds in order to get to Kansas) and thus, to aid in the alleviation
of this problem, the Nicodemus Town Company was established to appropriate food and supplies
from across the state and to distribute them to the settlers.

By 1881 however, there were 35 residential and commercial structures in the town. Although
most of these structures were scattered haphazardly throughout the district, there was a defined
business district. The general store of Z. T. Fletcher founded in the fall of 1877 was the oldest
business in the county. In 1878 a Post Office was established in a section of the store. One of
the highlights of Nicodemus' history is connected with this Post Office. It has been reported
throughout the fown's history that Mrs. Fletcher, who was the official post mistress, and her
husband went forty miles a month to the neighboring town of Ellis to carry outgoing and incoming
mail. In 1879 a livery stable and lumber yard were started. The establishment of the latter is
an excellent indication of the progress the Nicodemites were making as their sod structures were
being replaced by wood. The first church edifice, a sod structure, was constructed in 1879 under
the auspices of the Baptist minister Daniel Hickman. In June 1879 School District No. 1 was
established in Nicodemus with most of the classes being taught in peoples' homes. In 1887 a
formal four room structure was erected, By the 1880s Nicodemus was showing all the signs of a
thriving social center -- a baseball team, a literary and benefit society, lodges, and an ice
cream parlor. Nicodemus had two newspapers, the Western Cyclone established May 13, 1886
by A. G. Tallman and the Enterprise established Aug_JsTTT,'_T%VFy'H. K. Lightfoot, By 1887
when the town's first bank was established by a white man, A, L. McPherson, Nicodemus was
a recognized social and business center of Graham County.

The esteem in which the town was held is further evidenced by the prominence of its members
in county affairs. Selected as the temporary site of the township's first election, an honor that
acknawledged its potential voting strength in that region, the election was held in December 1879.
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The Nicodemus "Equal Rights Ticket,"” composed of five white men and three blacks ~ Granville
Lewis, H. Winn, and Lewis Welton - all won their respective seats: Lewis as one of the town
justices of the peace; Winn as township clerk; and Welton as road overseer. The Nicodemites
continued their promising beginnings in the field of politics when the county elections were held
in June 1880. John DePrad was elected county clerk, an office that was to be held by a number
of blacks in future elections. Other Nicodemites who were to achieve county elected offices
were: J. R. Hawkins who served in the office of the clerk of the court; W. L. Sayers ( a relative
of the football player Gale Sayers) who served as county attorney; and Lewis Welton and Daniel
Hickman who served as county commissioners. In the field of politics for the county and state, it
has been said that it was a rare election that did not have a black Nicodemite on its ballot.

An outstanding member of the Nicodemus community, and of the entire state, was Edward P,
McCabe whose rise to prominence in that frontier community was evidence of the opportunities
available to any person who wanted to excel in the fluidity of a frontier society. Mc Cabe came
from New York and Chicago in 1878. He served as the county's first county clerk, being appointed
to that temporary position by Governor St. John until the county elections of June, 1880. He and
A. T. Hall operated a land agency in the town and in 1882 and 1884 he was elected to the position
of state auditor. He held the same position in the territory of Oklahoma from 1897 to 1907 by
appointment from Governor G. S. Steel.

Nicodemus probably reached its peak by 1910 when the federal census of that year reported
595 colored inhabitants in the county. Although there are no reliable figures for the town of
Nicodemus, it is presumed that the decline in the population paralleled that of the rest of the
county. By 1950 only sixteen people were counted there and by 1953 the Post Office station
was closed, symbolizing the end of a cycle of seventy=six years of existence.

Nicodemus, Kansas, is of national historical significance because it is the only remaining town
established by blacks of the "Exoduster" movement which was organized mainly through the efforts
of Benjamin "Pap" Singleton. It is the site of the oldest reported Post Office supervised by blacks
in the United States. Nicodemus is also symbolic of the pioneer spirit of blacks who dared to leave
the only region they had been familiar with, in a search for personal freedom and the opportunity
to develop their talents and capabilities.



